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Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Strategic report

Principal activity and business review

The Group's principal activities arc the retail of vehicles, their maintenance and repair and the supply of related parts and
accessories.

The trading performance of the Group for the 2020 calendar year improved substantially from the previous year. Revenue
reduced by 17% in comparison to the prior year, duc primarily to the impact of the pandemic, to finish just under £5.0 billion
(2019: £5.9 bitlion). However, the Group reported for 2020 an operating profit of £114.2 million (2019: £91.0 million) and a
profit before tax of £100.4 million (2019: £71.8 millien). This result was achicved by a combination of support received from
both the government and our manufacturer partners, and the determination, skill and operational excellence of our colleagues
in hngely challenging eircumstances. Gw wunufacarer partners have been consistently supportive throughout the pandemic
and we are very grateful for this support.

In March 2020, the World Health Organisation described the global spread of the new Coranavirus {or COVID-19) as a
pandemic. Gn 23 March 2020, the UK Prime Minister announced that the UK would enter a period of lockdown advising the
public to stay at home and only leave if they have a reasonable cause. The instructions also required the closure of all retail
outlets selling non-essential goods, as such the majority of the Group's trade was halted with immediate effect, although a
number of workshops remained open to support key workers.

In accordance with government guidelines, the Group was ahle to re-open car dealership sites across the UK in June as
lockdown restrictions were eased. The re-opening required significant planning to ensure the safety of colleagues and
customers. The Group has laken advantage of cash flow assistance measures and suppert announced by the government as a
result of the Coronavirus pandemic, including deferral of taxation payments, business rates holiday and furlough of employees
through the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. In addition to the government measures, the Group has been able to take
advantage of deferred rent payments and manufacturer partner support, including extended vehicle stocking plans and other
measures assisting financial performance.

The Group took very positive steps during the first lockdown to preserve cash and hence the long-term future of the Group.
‘the Group's capital expenditure programme was reduced as far as practicable and all future capital expenditure was
suspended. Subsequently, during further lockdowns, with the investment that the Group made in digitalisation, online
capability and other innovations, the business was able to trade profitably. This was due in no small part to the support from
our OEM partners, but more specifically from the government Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme grants. As a result the
Board not only felt confident to reinstate capital expenditure, accelerate electrification infrastructure investment and also put
in place more ambitious plans for the expansion of it's CarShop brand.

A second government lockdown was imposed in November 2020, whereby all showrooms were closed again, and new and
used car sales were permitied via "click and collect”. Both prior to and throughout the pandemic, the Group continued to
invest heavily in its online and emni-channel proposition which facilitated the strong operational performance during both of
the national lockdowns during 2020.

A third government lockdown was imposed in January 2021, whereby all showrooms were closed again, sales were permitted
via "click and collect".

Qur over-riding priority during the Covid-19 pandemic was and remains the safety and well being of our colleagues and
customers. Significant safety measures and financial investments were put in place to protect both of these groups.

The Board would like to express their gratitude to the entire Sytner Group team who worked tirelessly during the period, to
ensure that the safety and well-being of their colleagues and customers were priorities.
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Group Strategic report {continued)

Principal activity and business review (continued)
In January 2020, the Group disposed ol four Volkswagen dealerships, all based in Yorkshire.

In December 2020, the Group opened CarShop Nottingham, its 11th large-scale used car supcrmarket.

In March 2021, the Group were awarded the opportunily to represent Bugatti in Manchester. We are very proud to now
represent Bugaltli in one of only two official Bupatti dealerships in the UK.

In May 2021, the Group opened CarShop I .eicester Express, its 12th used car supermarket.

In June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Autoworld Willenhall, a used car supermarket operated by Renault
Retail Group Ilimited. The store was immediately closed on acquisition for a period of site refurbishment, re-branding,
training and recruitment, and will re-open as CarShop Wolverhamplon in October 2021, thus becoming the Group's 13th
CarShop used car location.

The Group is committed to being recognised as 'the best campany to work for' in our sector. The Group continue to make great
progress against this objective and we recognise that unparalleled customer service can only be achieved by attracting,
motivating and retaining the very best team metmnbers.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Risk management remains a priority. We believe the key risk factors faced by the Group are as follows:

Key risk factors Mitigating controls
- The Group operates franchised motor car dealerships. Withouta - Maintain existing relationships with manufacturers
franchise we would be unable to source new car stack or perform - Diverse manufacturer representation avoiding over

service warranty repairs. Although we do not depend on any single  dependence on any single manufacturer

vehicle manufacturer, were any of the manufacturers we represent to - Develop and maintain revenue from used vehicles
suffer a business faiture or significant reduction in sales this would  sales and afiersales

have an adverse impact on our business.

- We believe our success depends to a large extent upon the eftort - Investment in brand presence to enable us to attract
and abilities of senior management and key employees. Further, our the right quality candidates
business is dependant upon our ability to continue to attract and -« We review and adapt for market conditions in relation
retain skilled personnel, to pay and emplovment terms
« Provision of training and encouraging progression
within the Group
- Develop good working relations by the use of elear
channels of communication

- We have a substantial amount of bank loans and stocking loans - Daily monitoring of funding requirements and review
primarily with interest rates linked to the prevailing base rate. We by management of the most appropriate forms of

do not undertake significant active hedging of this risk. As aresult, finance

the Group’s interest cost is affected by moving base rates.

- We believe that the motor retail industry is influenced by general - Our scale and expertise enable flexible response to
economie conditions and particularly by consumer contidence, the — market changes

level of personal discretionary spending, interest rates, fuel prices, - Detailed review of trading for each business is
weather conditions, unemployment rates and credit availability. It is carried out by management to optimise perjormance
likely that adverse economic conditions for a sustained period would

have an adverse impact on the profitability of the Group.

- A number of rcgulations affect our business of selling, financing - Significant investment in conirols and monitoring to
and servicing cars, such as those set out by the Financial Conduct  ensure compliance

Authority, Non-compliance can lead to fines or suspension from

selling finance or general insurance products.
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Group Strategic report {continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Key risk factors

- The motor retail industry is highly competitive. We compele with
other franchised motor dealerships, private buyers and sellers,
internet brokers and independent service and repair shops. In
addition, certain motor manufacturers have directly entered the
retail market. Some of our competitors may have greater financial
resources and lower overheads and sales costs than us.

- Qur business relies op (he unintermpted operation of our
information technology systems. We have put in place various
contingency and recovery plans in order to mitigate the impact of
any system failures, albeit it can never be certain that such plans
will cover every possibility.

- Non-compliance with health and safety regulations and failure to
provide colleagues and customers with safe environments could lead
to accidents, litigalion and compensation, fines and intervention by
regulatory bodics.

COVID-19 has brought additional requirenients and regulations,
failure to meet the required standards could result in infection of
colleagues and customers, fines and damage to our reputation.

- The UK left the European Union ("Brexit") in January 2020.
Subsequent to Brexit, the UK and the European Union reached a
trade agreement in December 2020, providing an opportunity for
tariff-frec and quota-free trade between the UK and the European
Union. The Board belicve that Brexit has negatively affected sales
in the past several years, and whilst therc remain certain
administrative concerns regarding the movement of goods between
the European Union and the UK, we believe that the trade
agreement will alleviate the instability and uncertainty historically
associated with Brexit.

- In March 2020, the World Health Organisation described the
global spread of the new Coronavirus {or COVID-19)as a
pandcmic. On 23 March 2020, the UK Prime Minister announced
that the UK would enter a period of lockdown advising the public to
stay at home and only leave if they have a reasonable cause. The
instructions also required the closure of all retail outlets selling non-
essential goods, as such the majority of the Group's trade was halted
with immediate effect, although a number of workshops remained
open to support key workers. In accordance with government
guidelines the Group was able to re-open car dealership sites across
the UK in June 2020 as lockdown restrictions eased. The re-opening
required significant planning to ensure the safety of colleagues and
customers. The Company has taken advantage of cash flow
assistance measures and support announced by the government as a
result of the Coronavirus pandemic, including deferral of taxation
payments, business rates holiday and furlough of employees through
the Coronavirus job retention scheme. A second government
lockdown was imposed in November 2020, whereby all showrooms
were closed again, and sales were permitted via "click and colleet”.

Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the vear ended 31 December 2020

Mitigating controls

- Continually seek to improve methods of customer
inferaction, particularly with regards to our online
presence.

- Monitor our manuyfacturer and third party customer
service measures and take action as required

Continue lu review and develop our disaster recovery
processes

< The Group have a team of health and safety advisors
warking fo ensure compliance with health and safety
requirements, in all aveas of the business, are
maintained and also to continne colleagues education
in this regard through regular updates. The health and
safely team have also been involved in the development
of the COVID safery and regulation compliance,
colleagues have been required to complete training on
return to work post lockdown and have been updated
regularly via emails and the colleague hub

- Ensure we have available the right level of expertise
to interpret and assess any changes in regulations or in
our policies and procedures

- Use our expertise in the used car market to monitor
market trends and adiust accordingly

- Retain open channels of communication with our
Jranchise partners.

- Ensure we have available the vight level of expertise
to interpret and assess any changes in regulations or in
our policies and procedures

- Accelerate investment in digital tools and solutions

- Use our expertise in the used car markel to monitor
market trends and adjust accordingly

- Retain open channels of communication with our
Jfranchise pariners.

- Utilisation of the cash flow assistance measures
provided by the government including deferral of
taxation payments, business rates holiday and furiough
of employees through the Coronavirus job retention
scheme.
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Group Strategic repor( (continued)

Going concern

The Group is funded on a day-to-day basis by an overdraft facility of £12m, vehicle stocking loans and a revolving credit
facility of £150m committed until December 2023, As of 31 December 2020, the Group had significant headroom on ali
facilitics and ¢redit facility covenants. The consolidated balance shect reports net current liabilities of £113m, the Group
generally utilises the overdrait and revolving credit facility to fund capital acquisitions, this is not considered to be an area for
concern given the significant headroom available on all facilities.

The Group's forecast and projections. taking account of possible changes in trading performance, show the Group will be able
to operate well within the level of its current facilities, for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the
date of signing and approving these financial staterents.

During 2021, the Company has continued to take advantage of cash flow assistance measures and support announced by the
governiment as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. including deferral of taxation payments and business rates relief.

Whilst the Caronavirus pandemic is ongoing at the date of this report. the current level of business disruption is significantly
less than that ¢xperienced immediately after the March 2020 lockdown. At the date of this report, no Group colleagues are
furloughed. The Board therefore consider that the ongoing business impact of the Caronavirus pandemic is likely to be less
dramatic going forward, than the first wave of infections in 2020,

The Dircctors have considered and reviewed forecast compliance with bank covenants and headroom availability during this
period and do not forecast to be in breach of the covenants, or exceeding horrowing limits, at any of the test points. As such,
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that there are no material uncertainties and continue to adopt the going concern
assumplion in the preparation ot the financial statements.

Section 172(1) statement
The Directors of the Company, as those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with a set of general dulies. These duties
arc detailed in section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 and are given below:

A director of a company must act in the way they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the
company for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard {amongst other maiters) to;

(a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term,

(b) the interests of the company's employees,

(c) the need to foster the company's business relationships with supplicrs, customers and others,

(d) the impact of the company's operations on the community and the environment,

(€) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and
(f) the need o act fairly as between members of the company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the Company and all subsidiaries to be referred to as “the Group”) hold the same aim
which is to be *famous for delighting our colleagues, customers, manufacturers and shareholders”. The Group operate under
the same corporate governance structure, the Group being managed as a whole at board level. The Directors review key risk
factors faced by the Group and these are discussed above. The Directors delegate day to day decision making to key
employees of the Group through a prescribed operating framework and monitor performance continually through regular
meetings and performance review, The Directors are able to access professional advice on any part of their duties should they
need further guidance.

The Directors understand that exceptional customer service can only be consistently delivered by attracting, molivating,
training and retaining the very best team members, our Delighting Colleagues ethos "developing talent, building careers”
supporting this, The Group are keen to ensure emiployees reach their potential and have designed development programmes
and courses to support this.

The Group strives to deliver an exceptional customer experience. Every member of the team is expected to contribute to the
delivery of outstanding customer experiences and to earn repeat and referral business. This approach is supported by our
framework in delighting Customers — “Getting it right, making it special”. The Group collects and analyses feedback from its
customers in order to ensure best practise is heing applied at each location and should a customer not be satisfied or have any
concerns there is a robust system in place to manage that process. The Group also monitors its performance on online
feedback forums including Trustpilot and Google.
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Group Strategic report (continued)

Section 172(1) statement (continued)

The Group operates franchised motor car dealerships and used car supermarkets. Without franchises, the Group would not be
able 1o source new car stock or perform service warranty repairs. Maintaining an excellent working relationship with our
franchisc partners is critical to the suceess of the Group, and is fostered by both the Directors and employees within the
Company.

In their decision making the Directors have regard to the impact of the Company operations in the local community and the
environment. As well as making the Group a great place to work for our colleagues, the Directors want to ensure that we arc
making a difference in our local communities and all companies within the Group are challenged to make a commitment to
local charities and community initiatives.

The Company's ultimate parent company Penske Automotive Group Inc.. is Jisted on the NYSE and is subject to controls as
prescribed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Each dealership is subject to regular internal audits the results of which are
reparted to the Penske Automotive Group Audit Committee.

The Board considered several key areas impacting the Group and it’s stakeholders during the year, a summary of the key

decisions being

- Furlough of staff during lockdowns imposed by the UK Government

- Suspending capital expenditure to preserve cash during lockdown and following that assesment of when to resume
capital expenditure programme

- Development of plans to ensure reopening of businesscs was safe for collecagues and customers

- Development of digitalisation and online capability

- Closure of sites as dislcosed in note 2

- Expansion plans for it’s CarShop brand

Future developments

The Group's focus for the future is to organically grow the business, along with its franchise pariners, and to progress
acquisitions where apportunities arise. The Group is also diversified into the used car supermarket sector and significant
further capital investment and expansion is planned in this area in the coming few years.

Resulty and key performance indicators
The Group’s profit before tax for the year was £100,337,000 (2019: £71,799,000} . Further details with regard to the trading

results for the year and the amount transferred to reserves are set out on page 13.

The Group’s key {inancial and other performance indicators during the vear were as follows:

2020 2019 Change
£000 £000 %
Group turnaver 4,916,206 5,915,844 -16.9%
Group operating profit 114,155 91,005 25.4%
2020 2019 Change
Units Units %
Group used car sales 138,078 136,367 1.3%

Turnover and operating profit growth are considered a key financial measure of success.

The Group delivered an operating profit of £114.2 million, against a backdrop of challenging market conditions and the on-
going pandemic.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2020 were £417,052,000 (2019: £397,247,000) the Company's net assets were
£96,207,000 (2019: £47,378.000).

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Ktlizs.
A Collinson
Director 22 September 2021
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Group directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report, together with the strategic report. the audited financial statements and auditor's
report for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Dividends
An dinterim dividend of £50,000.000 (2019: £48.750,000) was paid during the year. The Directors do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend (2019: £Nil).

Directors and directors' interests
The directors who served during the year and subsequently are shown below:

LEW Vaughan

JR Mallett

GE Nieuwenhuys

RH Kurnick (US citizen)
D Edwards

A Collinson

¥ Wemer

No director had a material interest in any significant contract, other than a service contract, with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries at any time during the period.

Directors indemnity
The Company has madc no qualifying third party indemnily provisions for the benefit of its directors during the year.

Employment policy and engagement with employees

The ultimate aim of the Group and Company is 10 be considered the best company to work for in the industry. The directors
believe that to achieve this it is important to develop good working relations by the use of clear channels of communication
and this is realised through formal and informal meetings and briefings, internal newsletters, the colleague hub (an online
portal) and other electronic communication,

The Company, and Group, have a strong *One Team’ ethos, encouraging all managers to have an open door policy so they are
ready to welcome all contributions and suggestions from our team members. The Company, and Group, hold regular meetings
with forums covering the different aspects of the business which consist of employces from across the Group. The forums are
used as a platform to share best practice and as a way 1o bring to the Board's attention any operational challenges faced by the
tcams.

Disabled Colleagues
Disabled colleagues receive appropriate training to promole their career development within the Group.

It is the policy of the Company to give full and fair consideration to applications for employment made by disabled persons,
having regard to their aptitude and abilities. If any colleague becomes disabled it is standard practice, in all but the most
extreme circumstances, to offer an alternative job and provide retraining where nccessary.

Engagement with Suppliers, customers, others
Details of engagement with Suppliers, Customers and other can be found in the Strategic Report Directors” Duties and form
part of this report by cross reference.

Donations
The Group made no political donations during the year.

Health, safety and the environment

The Group aims to achieve a high standard of performance in health, safety and environmental issucs by eliminating injuries,
work related ill-health and minimising the effect of our activities on the eavironment. Health and Safety Officers are
appointed at each location and receive periodic training to keep abreast of both legislative requirements and technological
advances. This is further enhanced with regular internal audits by our own fully qualified health and safety managers, along
with training, induction and awareness programmes for all members of staff. The Group aims to continually improve its
performance in order to meet changing business and regulatory requirements.
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Group directors” report

Statement of corporate governance arrangements

Sytner Group Limited (Sytner Group Limited and all subsidiaries to be referred to as “the Group™) operale under the same
umbrella of corporate governance. Under the format of the Wates Principles, the corporate governance arrangements of the
Group are discussed below.

Purpose and leadership

The Company, and the Group’s, ultimate aim is to be considered the best company to work for in the industry and the best
company fo do business with. The Board meet regularly with management teams to analyse performance both financially and
operationally and to plan for the (uture. The Company, and Group, holds regular conferences for different functions within the
business which give the Dircctors the opportunity to communicate and reinforce their aims.

The values of the Company, and Group, are intreduced to all new employees during their inductions and access to the
company handbook is available to all colleagues on the colleague hub along with the best practise-guide ("Toolkit"). The
company handbook includes the Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The objective of Toalkit is to record in one
place all of the best practices from around the Group. whilst also clarifying what the minimum standards are. This is nol te
standardisc the business but to allow them to be controlled in a way which suits each franchise and geographic locality. Our
internal audit function audits each business (bascd on risk and past performance) to check for compliance with the minimum
standards.

The board monitor the culture of the Company, and Group. through annuat cmployee surveys, use of external benchmarking
surveys, colleague turnover rates, minimum bi-annual colleague performance reviews and should a colleague leave the Group
an exit interview is conducted. Should a eolleague wish to raise concerns about misconduct or unethical practices there is the
opportunity to do so through supervisory or management personnel, or where the colleague feels it is appropriate through a
confidential hotline.

Board composition

The board comprises Directors with experience within motor retail. most of whom have worked for the Company or Group,
for an extensive period of time. The board also includes a Dircctor of the Company's ultimate holding company Penske
Automotive Group, Inc. The operational management of the Company. and Group, is expanded to include further key
members of management with other complementary specialisms.

The Group holds regular meetings with its internal Diversity Forum, This group consists of employees and Directors and
constantly looks at ways to improve diversity and inclusivity within the Group.

Divector’s responsibilities

The board have developed corporale governance practices throughout the Group which provide clear lines of accountability
and responsibility. The Group, have a set of policics and procedures in place to manage internal affairs of the Company. These
policies and procedures have been discussed above.

The board make use of a selection of other committees to assist with the consideration of other areas of operation.

The Company, and Group, have established formal and robust internal processes to ensure systems and controls are operating
effectively, and that the quality and integrity of the information provided is reliable. The board rely on information including:

« Financial reporting;

= Key performance indicators;

« Employee data;

« Franchisor feedback;

» Customer feedback.
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Group directors’ report

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

Opportunity and risk

The Board assess risks posed to the Company on a regular basis, discussion of the risks identified are discussed in the strategic
report.

The Board considers opportunities to expand the current offerings as they arise, looking to the future the board considers the
risks to which the Company is cxposed and how future development could minimise the impact of those risks.

Remuneration

The remuneration of the Directors is controlled by the ultimate parent company Penske Automotive Group, Inc. under the
reniit of the Compensation and Management Development Committee. The charter for the Compensation and Management
Development Committee does not form part of these financial statements but can be accessed via the Penske Automotive
Group Inc.'s website.

Stakeholder relations and engagement
‘The material stakeholders groups recognised by the Company, and Group, would include the Company's workforce, the
franchisors and the sharcholders, being the ultimate parent Company Penske Automotive Group, Inc.

Financial risk management

Cash Flow risk

The Group and Company is financed by bank loans and stocking loans with interest rates linked to either the prevailing base
rate or Libor. We do not undertake significant active hedging of this risk. As a result, the Group and Company’s interest cost
is affected by moving base rates.

Credit risk

The Group and Company's principal tinancial assets are bank balances, cash, trade and other debtors,

The Group and Cempany's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade debtots. The amounts presented in the balance sheet
are net of any provisions for amounts identificd as being doubtful of recovery.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited as the counterparts arc banks with positive credit ratings.

The Group and Company has no significant concentration of eredit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparts and ¢ustomers.

Liguidity risk

In order to maintain liquidity and to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing operations and future developments,
the Group and Company uses a mixture of long term and short term finance,

Future developments
Details of future developments can be found in the Strategic report and fortm part of the repert by cross reference.

Events after the balance sheet date
Details of significant events after the balance sheet date ¢an be found in notes to the financial statements {see note 32).
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Group directors’ report

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting
This is the first year for which reporting under the Streamlined Energy & Carbon Reporting framework is required, as such no

comparatives are disclosed for the prior year,

2020

UK energy use kWh
Gas 42,977,943
Electricity 45,032,475
Transport 80,002,153
tCO2e

Scope T emissions (combustion of fucls and additional emissions) 26,761
Scope 2 {electricity) 10,499
Total emissions 37.260
tCO2e/fm

Intensity ratio (encrgy etliciency) 7.57

Methodology

The footprint is calculated in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol and Environmental Reporting Guidelines:
Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance. Activity data has been converted into carbon emissions faclors
published by DEFRA.

The intensity ratio used is turnover per tonne of CO2e, this is a simple measure of energy efficiency which will allow for fair
commparison over time of CO2 emissions and business activity.

Energy efficiency measures

The Group are completing a number of efficiency works to compliment energy audits carricd out, including reviewing items
such as lighting upgrade, air conditioning efficiency and have engaged in an energy audit project.

Auditor

Each of the persons wha is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
« 50 far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and
« the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.
This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions ot s418 of the Companics Act

2006.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the
company's wehbsite, 1.egislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The auditor, Deloitte LLP, will be proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Mceting.

Approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Fethzs-

A Collinson
Direcror
2 Penman Way
Grove Park
Leicester
Leicestershire
LEL9 IS8T

22 September 2021
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Directors® responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the direclors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have elected to
prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including FRS102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

Under company law the dircctors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
tair view af the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.

In preparing these (inancial statements, the directors are required to:
+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
+ make judgements and estimales that arc reasonable and prudent;

« statc whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been folfowed, subject 1o any material departurcs disclosed and
cxplained in the financial statements; and

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will

continye in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's
wansactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and company and to prevent and detect fraud and

other irregularities.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Sytner Group Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

I our opinion the financial stalements of Sytner Group Limited {the *parent company™) and its subsidiaries (the “group’):

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 and of the
group’s profil for the year then ended:

- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Aceepted Accounting Practice, including
Financial Reporting Standard 102 ~The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of lreland™; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprisc:

- the consolidated profit and loss account and other comprehensive income

- the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

- the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity;

- the consolidated cash {low statement; and

- the related notes 1 to 32.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK
and Republic of Ireland”(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report,

We are independent of the group and the parcnt company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the tinancial statements in the UK, inc¢luding the Financial Reporting Council’s (the *FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficicnt and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the dircctors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial sltatements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors® assessment of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included our assessment of the entity’s:

« financing facilitics including nature of facilities, repayment terms and covenants

* [inkage to business model and medivm-term risks

+ assumptions used in the forecasts

+ amount of headroom in the forecasts (cash and covenants)

* sensitivity analysis

» sophistication of the model used to prepare the forecasts, testing of clerical accuracy of those forecasts and our assessment of
the historical accuracy of forecasts prepared by management

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or coflectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concemn are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Sytner Group Limited
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report . other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in
our report. we do not express any farm of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be
matcrially misstated. If we identuly such matertal inconsislencics or apparent material misstalements, we are required to
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact,

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the dircctors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whelher the financial staterments as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due te fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's repart that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or crror and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.[rc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Trregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with kaws and regulations. We design procedures in line with
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to
which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation of
their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of management ,
internal audit about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key laws
and regulations that:

- had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These included UK
Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation, Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) regulations ; and

- do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the group’s ability
to operate or to avold a material penalty. These included solvency requirements and environmental regulations.

We discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions, IT
regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might
oceur in the financial statements.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of The Group's principal activities are the retail of
Report on the audit of the financial statements

As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud the following area, and our specific
procedures performed to address it are described below:

- Impairment of goodwill associated with the Used Car Supermarket business unit. We have performed assessment and testing
of the impairment model which included assessment of the key assumptions and sensitivity analysis.

In common with all audits under 1SAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures 1o respond to the risk of
management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative
of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business.

In addition to the above, aur procedures ta respond to the risks identified included the folowing:

- reviewing financial statenient disclosures by testing to suppaorting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of’
relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- perfarming analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relatienships that may indicatc risks of material
misstatement due to fraud,

- enguiring of management, internal audit and external legal counscl concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and
instarices of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audil reports and reviewing
correspondence with HMRC

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

It our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the strategic report and the directors® report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements,

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environnment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors” report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to reporl in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

- the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuncration speciticd by law are not made; or

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require tor our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permiticd by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work,

for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
DocuSigned by:
D

22AFAQ5F353B4TA .
Peter Gallimore FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, United Kingdom

22 September 2021
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Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Consolidated profit and loss account and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note 2020 2019
Contitaing  Discontinued Total Continuing  Discontinucd Taotal
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Turnover 3 4,870,257 45,949 4,916,206 5,506,730 409,114 5915844
Cost of sales (4,173,849) (41,022) (4,214,871) (4,773,170) (355,610 (5,128.780)
Gross profit 696,408 4,927 701,335 733,560 53,504 787,064
Distribution costs (363,357) (3,636) (366,993) (412,025) (35473 (447.498)
Administrative cxpenses {259,612) (6.028) {265,640) (219.956) {28.605) (248.,561)
73,439 (4.737 63,702 101,579 (10,574) 91,005
Other operating income 7 45,033 424 45,457 - - -
Operating profit 118,472 (4.313) 114,159 101,579 (10,574) 91,0058
Profit/(loss) on sale of business 2 - (1,425 (1,425) - (3.426) (3,426)
Profit before finance charges 118,472 (5,738) 112,734 101,579 (14,000) 87.579
Interest payable and similar expenses & (12,200) (177) (12,377) (14,425) (1,355 {15,780
Profit before taxation 4 106,272 (5.915) 100,357 87,154 (15,355) 71,799
Tax on profit 9 (27,139 1,171 (25.968) {20,271 682 (19.589)
Profit for the financial vear 79,133 (4,744) 74,389 66,883 (14,673) 52210
Other comprehensive income
Remcasurement of net defined benefit pension liability (5,901 {799
Income tax on other comprehensive income 1,121 136
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 4,780) (663)
Total comprehensive income for the year 69,609 51.547

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December 2020
Noze 2020 2019
As restated
£000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Goodwill 11 127,753 147,802
Other intangibles 11 76 2,358
127829 150,160
Tangiblc assets 12 482,498 475,139
482,498 475,139
610,327 625,299
Current assets
Stocks 4 905,222 1,064,729
Debtors 15 136,516 189.885
Cash at bank and in hand 210,257 191,671
1,251,995 1,446,285
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (1,364,955) (1,597.748)
Net current assets/(liabilities) (112,960) (151,463
Tatal assets less current liabilities 497,367 473,836
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year i7 (60,421) {59,574)
Pravisions for liabilities and charges
Deferred tax liability 19 (9,621) (7.773)
Pensions and similar obligations 2 (10,273) (9.240)
19894y (17,015}
Net assets 417,052 397,247
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22 2,724 2,724
Share premium account 17,164 17,164
Goodwill reserve - -
Profit and loss account 397,164 377.359
Shareholders’ funds 417,052 397,247

Prior year comparative information has been restated as a result of'a presentational adjustment as described in note 10.

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 22 September 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Atdtzs..

A Collinson
Directar

Registered number 02883766

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements,
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Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 20240

Company balance sheet

As at 31 December 2020
Note 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 12 21,476 23,273
Investments 13 289,102 289,102
310,578 312,375
310,578 312,375
Current assets
Stocks I 493 385
Debtors 15 215,494 206,668
Cash at bank and in hand 2 8,737
215,989 215,790
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 16 (415,544) (465,864)
Net current assets/(liabilities) N (199,555) (250,074)
Total assets less current liabilities 111,023 62,301
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year i7 (4,543) (5,683)
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Pensions and similar obligations 20 {10,273) (9,240
S o2ty (9,240)
Net assets 96,207 47,378
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 22 2,724 2,724
Share premiym 17,164 17,164
Goodwill reserve 7476 7,476
Profit and loss account 68,843 20,014
Shareholders’ funds 96,207 47,378

The Company has elected 1o take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from presenting the parcnt
company profit and loss account. The total comprehensive income for the financial year dealt with in the financial statements of
the parent company was £98,633,000 (2019: £36,467,000).

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 22 September 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Athizs.

A Collinson
Director

Registered number 02883766

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
As af 31 December 2020

Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Note Called up Share Share Premium Goodwilt  Profitand loss  Total Equity
Capital Account reserve account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2019 2,724 17,164 - 374,981 394,869
Total Comprehensive income for the period ended 3) December 2019
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 51,547 51,547
Equity-settled sharc based payment 2]
transactions - - - (CARY] {419)
Dividends 27 - - - (48,750) {48,750)
Total contributions by and distributions
to owners - - - (49,169) (49,169)
Balance at 31 December 2019 2,724 17,164 - 377,359 397,247
Balance at 1 January 2020 2,724 17,164 - 377,359 397,247
Total Comprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2020
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 69,609 69,609
Equity-setiled share hased payinent 2!
transactions - - - 196 196
Dividends 23 - - - (50,0001 (50,000)
Total contributions hy and distributions
(0 OWTers - - - (49,804) (49,804)
Balance at 35 December 2020 2,724 17,164 - 397,164 417,052

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of changes in equity
As at 31 December 2626

Sytner Graup Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Naote Calted up Share Share Premium Goodwill Profitand loss  ‘Total Equity
Capital Account reserve account
£004 £000 £064 £606G £606

Balance at 1 January 2019 2,724 17,164 7476 32,716 60,080
Total Camprehensive income for the period ended 31 December 2019
Total comprehensive income tor the year - - 36,467 36,467
Equity-settled share based payment 2 - - - (419)
transactions (419)
Dividends Ba] - - - (48,7501 {48,750)
Total contributions by and distributions to
QWNErs - - - (49,169) (49,169)
Balance at 31 December 2019 2,724 17,164 7,476 20,014 47,378
Balance at | lanuoary 2020 2,724 17,164 7,476 20,014 47,378
Total Comprehensive inceme for the period ended 31 December 2020
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 98,633 98.633
Eguity-settled share based payment 21 - - -
transactions 196 196
Dividends 23 - - - (30,000) (50,000)
Total contributions by and distributions to
awners - - - (49,804) (49,804)
Balance at 31 Decemiber 2020 2124 17164 7,476 68,843 96,207

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statcments
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Nore 2020 2019
£000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 74,389 52,210

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 4 61,075 62,403
[nterest payable and similar charges 7 12,377 15,780
(Profity/L.oss on sale of tangible fixed assets (40 1,799
Loss on the disposal of a business 2 1425 3.426
Taxation 9 25,968 19,589
175,194 155,207
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other debtors 53,369 4,722
{Incrcase)/decrease in stocks 101,832 (7.260)
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other creditors (84,253) (10,827
{Decrease)/increase in provisions and employee benefits (4,368) (3,716)
Interest paid (12,630) (15,930)
Tax paid {29,109) (22.629)
Net cash from operating activities 199,535 99,561

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 5.244 30,162
Proceeds from disposal of a business 2 6,922 10,936
Acquisition of a business 2 - -
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets 10 41,321y {97,319
Net cash from investing activitics (_29:1575) (56,281)
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings under revolving credit facility 1,774,000 4,685,000
Repayment of borrowings under revolving credit facility (1,899,000} (4,692,000}
Proceeds from bank and other loans 1,000 11,668
Repayment of bank and other loans (763) (1,095)
Dividends paid {50,000) (48,750)
Net cash from financing activities (174.763)  (41,177)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {4,383 2,103
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 28 724 {1,379)
Cash and cash equivalents 28 {3,659 724

Cash and cash equivalents comprising

Cash at bank and in hand 210,257 191,671
Bank overdraft 18 (213,916) (190,947
23 (3,659) 724

The notes on pages 20 to 39 form part of these financial statements
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Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidaied financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes to the financial Statements

1 Accounting policies
General information

Sytner Group Limited, {the "Company") is a private company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006
and 15 registered in England and Wales. The Company's registered office address is 2 Penman Way, Grove Park, Enderby, Leicester, LE19 15T,

The principal activities of the Contpany and the Group are set out in the strategic report on page 1.

The tunctional and presentation currency of these financial statements s sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the Cempany and Group operates. All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded ta the nearest £1,000.

These financial statements were prepared in accordanee with Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the
UK and Republic of Ireiand (“FRS 102”) issued by the Financial Reporting Council,

The Company’s ultimate parent undertaking, Penske Automotive Group, Inc. includes the Company in its consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements of Penske Automative Group, Inc are prepared in accordance with US GAAP and are available to the public and
may be obtained from www panskeautomotive.com. In these financial statcments, the company 13 considered to be a qualifying entity (for the
purposes of this FRS) and has applied the exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect ot the tollowing disclosures:

* Reconcihation of the number of shares outstanding from the beginning to end of the period,

The group has o number of subsidianes which were entitled to exemption from audit under section 479A af the Companics Act 2006. The
subsidiarics to which this relates are identified in note 13.

Judgements made by the directors in the application of these accounting palicies that have significant effect on the financial statements and cstimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed n note 23,

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise staled, been applicd consistently te all periods presented in these financial statements.

L} Measurement Convention
The financial statements arc prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value: Financial
ingtruments classified at fair value through the profit or loss.

12 Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to the end of the
financial vear. A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the parent. The results of the subsidiary undertakings are included in the consolidated
profit and loss account from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Control is established when the Company has the
power to govern the operating and financial policies of the entity, so as 1o abtain benefits from its activities.

13 Going Concern
The company's business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position are sei out in the

strategic report on page 1. They are prepared on a going concern basis as the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future Thus they continue to adopt the geing concern basis of accounting in
preparing the annual financial statements.

14 Foreign currency

Transaciions in foreign currencies are translated to the Company’s functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Monelary assets and habilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated
al fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Ls Discontinued operations

Discontinued operations are components of the Company that have been disposed of at the reporting date and previcusly represented a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operation.

They are included in the profit and foss acceunt in a separate column for the current and comparative periods, including the gain or loss on sale or
impairment loss on abandonment

1.6 Turnover

Turnover, which arises wholly in the United Kingdom from the Group’s principal activity of the retail of vehicles, their maintenance and repair and
the supply of related parts and accessories, is the amount derived from the provision of goods and services falling within the company’s ordwnary
activities after deduction of trade discounts and value added tax.

Turnover is recognised in most cases on despatch of vehicles and parts and afer service work is completed. In same instances, a customer may pay in
full for the vehicle and accept responsibility for it but request that the company ratains possession of the vehicle for delivery at a specified later date.
Turnover is recognised on these transactions at the point of payment as the company believes that the risks and rewards of ownership have

substantially transferred. 7
Where vehicles are supplied to a leasing company for contract hire purposes and the Group undertakes to repurchase the vehicle at a predetermined

amount and date then the significant risks and rewards of ownership arc deemed not to have transferred outside the Group and consequently operating
lessor accounting is adopted.

The repurchase commitments for the vehicles are held within creditors with the respective asset within fixed assets motor vehicles. The income
remaining on the initial transaction with the feasing company is held as deferred income and spread over the period of the agreement.
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Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Notes to the financial Statements

17 Expenses

Operating lease

Payments {excluding cosis for services and insurance) made under operating leases are recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease unless the payments to the lessor are structured to increase in line with expecied general inflation; in which case the
payments related to the siructured increases are recognised as incurred Lease incentives received are recognised in profit and loss over the term of the
lease as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Finance lease

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability using the rate implicit in the lease.
The finance charge is allocated to ¢ach period during the lease tern: so as to produce a constant periodic rate of iterest on the remaining balance of
the liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Interest pavable and sumilar expenses

Interest payable and similar expenses include mterest payable, finance charges on shares classified as liabilities and finance leases recognised in profit
or loss using the effective interest method, unwinding of the <hscount on provisions, and net toreign exchange losses that are recognised in the profit
and loss account (see foreign currency accounting policy). Borrowing costs that are directly atiributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of an asset that takes a substantial ime to be prepared tor use, are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset/are expensed as incurred.

Other interest receivable and similar income

Other interest receivable and similar income include interest receivable on funds invested and net foreign exchange gains

Interest incame and interest payable are recognised in profil or loss as they accrue, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised
in the profit and loss account on the date the company’s right Lo receive payments is cstablished. Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a
net basis.

1.8 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans and other long rerm emplovee benefits

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and will have
ne legal or constructive obligation to pav further amounts. Obligations for coniributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense in the profit and loss account in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan, the Company operates two defined benefit plans. The
entity’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated, separately for each plan, by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employces have earned in return for their service in prior periods; that benefit is discaunted to determine its present value. The fair value of any plan
assets is deducted. The entity determines the net interest expense {income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying the
discount rate as determined at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) taking account of changes arising as a
resull af contributions and benefit payments

The discount rate is the yicld at the balance sheet date on AA credil rated bonds and having maturity dates approximating to the terms of the entity’s
obligations. A valuation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The entity recognises net defined
benefit plan assets to the extent that it is able to recover the surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or through refunds from the
plan.

Changss in the net defined benefit liability arising from employee service rendered during the period, net interest on net defined benefit liability, and
the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements during the period are recognised in profit or loss.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability/asset is recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which it occurs.

Share based payments

The Company has two share based payment schemes for management in operation.

The first scheme is based on the performance of the Group against specified targets over a three year period and is part of long term incentive plan
The expensa is accrued on a straight line basis aver the period of the scheme with the cost being recognised as an employee expense in the profit and
loss account with a corresponding movement in accruals. Shares are awarded to the value accrued at the end of the scheme based on the market share
price at that tims.

The second scheme ts recognised as an employee expense on a straight line basis in the profit and loss account with a corresponding movement in
accruals based on the fair value of options granted . The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employee
became entitled to the options (the vesting period). The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect an estimate of the number of shares or
options that are expected to vest. The creditor is adjusted to reflect mavement in share price throughout the vesting period with a correspending
movemest in equity.

The above scheme's are different only in the way the amount of shares granted are determined. The shares granted via both schemes are subject to the
terms of the Penske Automotive Group, Inc's (formerly United Automative Group, Inc.) 2020 Equity Compensation Plan.
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19 Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account except to the extent that at
relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive

income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacled at the

balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods ditferent from
those in which they are recognised in the financial statements. The following timing differences arc not provided for: differences between
accumuliated depreciation and ax allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when all conditions for retaining the tax allowances have been met;
and differences relating 1o investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is not probable that they will reverse in the loresesable future and the
reporting cntity is able 1o control the reversal of the timing difference. Deferred tax 1s not recognised on permanent differences arising because
certain types of income or expense are non-taxable or are disallowable for tax or because certain tax charges or allowances are greater or smaller than

the corresponding income or expense
Deferred tax is provided in respect of the additional tax that will be paid or avoided on differences between the amount at which an asset {other than

goodwill) or liability is recognised in a business combination and the carresponding amount that can be deducted or assessed for tax. Goodwill 15
adjusted by the amount of such deferred tax.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is capeoted L apply 1o the reversal of the related difference, using tax rates enacted or substantively

enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax balances are not discounted,
Unrelieved tax losscs and other deferred tax assets are recagnised only to the extent that is it probable that they will be recovered against the reversal

of deferred tax trabilities or other future taxable profits.

11o Intangibly assets, goodwill and negative goodwill

Goodwill

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated o cash-generating units or
group of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination from which it arose.

Negative goodwill

Negative goodwill arising on business combinations in respect of acquisitions is included on the balance sheet immediately below any positive
goodwill and relcased to the profit and loss account in the periods in which the non-menetary assets arising on the same acquisition are recovered
Any excess exceeding the fair value of non-monetary assets acquired shall be recognised in profit or loss in the periods expected to benefit.

Franchise Value

Franchise value is calculated as the net present value of future revenue generated from holding a franchise including the gross profit on new cars,
warranty repairs and franchise parts.

Saftware

Intangiblc assets are stated a1 cost less accumulated amortisation, Intangible assets include costs incurred (n the development of bespoke computer
software.

Amaorrisation
Amartisation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets. Intangible assets are amortised
from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Franchise value - 10 vears
Software - 3to 5 years
Goodwill
Far acquisition on or before 31 December 2013 - 20 years
For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2014 - 10 years

Goodwill and other intangible assets are tested for impairment in accordance with Section 27 Impairment of Assets when there is an indication that
goodwill or an intangible asset may be impaired.

L1 Business combinations
Business combinations are accaunted for using the purchase method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the
company.

Al the acquisition date, the company recognises goodwill at the acquisition date as:
the fair value of the consideration {excluding contingent consideration) transferred; plus
estimated amount of contingent consideration (see below); plus
the fair value of the equity instruments issued; plus
directly atteibutable transaction costs, less
the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilitics assumed.

When the excess is negative, this is recognised and separately disclosed on the face of the balance sheet as negative goadwill.
Consideration which 1s contingent on future events is recognised based on the estimated amount if the contingent consideration is probable and can be
measured reliably. Any subsequent changes to the amount are treated as an adjustment to the cost of the acquisition,

FRS 102 section 27 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of FRS 102 in the transition period. The Company elected not to restate
business combinations that ook place prior to 1 January 2014. ln respect of acquisitions prior to 1 Yanuary 2014, goodwill is included on the basis of
its deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under old UK GAAP. Intangible assets previously included in goodwill, are not recognised
separaiely.
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rLn Tangible fixed assets

Tangihle fixed aseels are stated at cust less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairmnent losses.

Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of tangible fixed assets, for
cxample land is treated separately from buildings.

Leases in which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified as finance leases. All
ather leases are classitied as operating leases, Leased assets acquired by way of finance lease are stated on initial recognition at an amount equal to the
lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, including any incremental costs directly
attribuiable to negotiating and arranging the lease At initial recognitian a finance lease liabitity is recognised equal to the fair value of the leased asset
or, i lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The present value of the minimum lease payments is calculated using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. Lease payments are accounted for as described at 1.7 above

Where vehicles are supplied to a leasing company for contract hire purposes and the Group undertakes to repurchase the vehicle at a predetermined
amount and date then the significant risks and rewards of ownership are deemad not to have transferred outside the Group and consequently operating
lessor accounting s adopted.

The Company assesscs at each reporting date whether tangible fixed assets (including those leased under a finance lease) are impatred,

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of tangible fixed
assets Leased asscts are depreciated over the shorter of the lease tenint and their tseful lives Land s not depreciated  { he estimated useful lives are as
toliows:

Freehold land and buildings - 50 years

Short teasehold iand and buildings - over lease term
Fixtures and equipment and motor vehicles - between 3 and 10 years
Courtesy vehicles - 4 years

Motor vehicles held as lessor - over lease term

Assets under construction - Not depreciated

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change since last annual reporting date in
the pattern by which the company expects Lo consume an asset’s future economic benefits.

113 Investment property
Investment properties are properties which are held ¢ither to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. [nvestment properties are
recognised initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Following chatiges to FRS102 as issued in Decentber 2017 any praperties accupied by Group companies have been reclassified as tangible fixed
assets and accounted for using the cost model.

L4 Stocks

Stocks, exciuding vehicle parts stock, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and include interest bearing consignment vehicles. Cost
incurred in bringing ¢ach product to its present location and condition is based on purchase price less trade discounts. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling price less turther costs expected to be incurred to disposal. Provision is made for absolete, slow-moving or defective items where
appropriate

Consignment stock ar¢ considered 10 be under the control of the Company and are included in stock on the balance sheet as the Company has the
significant risks and rewards of ownership even though legal title has not vet passed. The corresponding liability is included in creditors.

Vehicle parts stack is stated at average cost.

115 Provisions
A provision is recognised in she balance sheet when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, that can be
reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to scttle the obligation. Provisions are recagnised at the best

cstimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at the reparting date.

Where the Company enters into financial guarantee contracts te guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within its group, the company treats
the guarantee contract as a contingent Liability until such time as it becomes probahle that the company will be required to make a payment under the
guarastee.

px}
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Lis Impairment exciuding stocks and deferred tax assets

Financial assets fincluding trade and other debtors)

A financial assct not carricd at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 15 objective evidence that
it is impaired. A financial asset 1s impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and
that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respeet of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difterence between its carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. For financial instruments measured at cost
less impairment ar impatrment is caleudated as the difterence between its carrying amaunt and the best estiriate of the amount that the Company
would receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date. Interest on the impaired agset continues to be recognised through the unwinding
of the discount Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the
decreusc in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than stocks and deferred tax assets, are revicwed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The
recoverable amount of an assel is the greater of its value in use and 1ts fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estunated future cash
flows are discounicd i their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specifie to the asset For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the impairment of goodwill is determined using the recoverable amount of
the acquired entity in its entirety.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its cstimated recoverable amount. Impawrment losses are recagnised in
profit or loss.

An impairment loss 1s reversed if and only if the reasens for the impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losscs recognised in prior perieds are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer extsts.
An impairment loss is reversed onty to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amertisation, 1f no impairment loss had been recognised.

L7 Classification of fingncial instruments issued by the Company
In accordance with FRS 102.22, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the feliowing two
conditions.

(a) they include no contractual abligations upon the company ta deliver cash or ather financial assets or to exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities with another party under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the company; and

(b) where the instrurnent will or may be settled in the company’s own equity instruments, it is either 2 non-derivative that includes no obligation to
deliver a variable number of the company's own equily instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the company’s exchanging a fixed amount
of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classificd as a financial fiability. Where the instrument so classified takes the
legal form of the company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account
exclude amounts in relation to those shares.

LI8 Basic financial instruments

Trade and other debtors / credilors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at transaction price less atuributable transaction costs Trade and other creditors are recognised initially
at transaction price plus attributable (ransaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses in the case of trade deblors. If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example if pavment is
deferred beyand normal business terms, then it is measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate of instrument for a
similar debt instrument.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as basic financial instruments

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at the present value of future payments discounted at a market rate of interest. Subsequent to
initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the eftective interest method, less any impairment losses,
Investnients in prefevence and ordinary shares

Investments in equity instruments are measured initially al fair value, which is normally the transaction price. Transaction costs arc excluded if the
investments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss Subsequent to initial recognition investments that can be measured
reliably are measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss. Other investments are measured at cost less impairment in profit or loss.

Investments in subsidaries, jointly controlled entities and associates

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are carried at cost less impairment changes

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafis that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the cash flow statement.

119 Related Party Disclosures
The company has taken advantage of the exemption available in FRS102 Section 33, 1A from disclosing intercompany transactions between two or
more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary party to the transaction is a wholly owned member of the group.

1.20 Government Grants
Grants received under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme are recorded as other income. The grants have been accounted for on an accruals basis
as and when the Company's eligibility to receive the grants has heen established.
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2 Acquisitions and new husinesses

Acquisitions in the current period
The Group and Company made no acquisitions in the year,

Disposal of businesses in the current and prior period
Discontinued operation

Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

During the year the Group disposed of it's remaining Volkswagen dealerships in England. The net assets disposcd including goodwill and franchise

value amounted to £6,483,000 and the company made a loss on disposal of £1,425,000.

The Group has also clesed a number of businesses during the vear including a BMW and MINI dealership in Haverfordwest and a Land Rover
dealership in Stratford (foodwill and franchise value intangible assets were impaired by £1,722,000, additional closure costs have been incurred

amounting to £2,299.000

During the prior year the Group disposcd of 4 Velkswagen dealerships and 1 STAT dealership. The netassets disposed including goodwill and

franchise value ampunted to £10,936,000, the Group made a loss on disposal of £3,426,000.

During the prior year the Group closed | Valkswagen and | SEAT dealership Goodwill and franchise value intangible asssets were impaired by

£4.275,000, additional closure costs have been incurred amounting to £1,975,000.

3 Turnover

The Group's turnover is derived in the United Kingdom from the Company's principal activity that being the the retail of vehicles, their maintenance

and repair and the supply of related parts and accessories

Sales of vehicles
Aftersales

4 Expenses and auditor's remuneration

Profit on ordinary activities hefore taxation is arrived at after charging/{crediting),
Depreciation (note 12)

Amortisation of goodwill and other intangibles (note 11)

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles (note L1)

QOperating lease rentals

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit of these financial statements

Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation
Other services pursuant to such legislation

Amortisation and impairment of goodwill and other intangibles is included in Administrative expenses.

2020 2019
£000 £000
4,544,620  5458,726
371,586 457118
4,916,206 5915844
2020 2019
£000 £000
39,369 14,257
19,657 23 871
2,049 4275
43,565 43,840
125 125

431 383

48 125
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5 Staff numbers and costs

The average manthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was as follows:

Sytner Group Limited
Annua! report and consolidated financial statcments
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Company

Number of employees Number of emplovees
2020 2019 2020 2018
Workshop staff 4,485 4,949 - -
Sales and distribution 2,781 3,147 - -
Administration 2,260 2,393 551 580
9,466 10,489 551 580

The aggregate payroll costs to the Group for these persons were as follows:
£000 00

Wages and salaries

Share based payments

Social security costs

Contributions to defined contribution plan
Expenses related to defined benefit plans

6 Remuneration of directors

Directors' emoluments for services
Pension contributions

Remuncration of the highest paid director (excluding pension contributions)

Pension contributions of the highest paid director

Number of directors who are members of the money purchase pension scheme

The number of directors in respect of whose services shares were received or receivable under long term incentive
schetmes was

327,678 356,206

2,827 2,504
32,983 36,262
10,885 11,579

132 283

374,505 406,834

2020 2019
£000 £000
3,710 2,677
20 20
1,738 1,134
10 10
Number

2 5

4 4

Ri1 Kurnick is remunerated by Penske Automotive Group, Inc, a company registered in Delaware, USA, J Werner is remunerated by Penske
Automotive Eurepe GmbH, a company tegistered in Germany. The remuneration of RU Kurnick and J Werner is not included in the above analysis.

The remuneration of RH Kurnick is disclosed in the financial statements of Penske Automotive Group, Inc..

7 Other operating income

Grants recognised under the Coronavirus fob
Retention Scheme

2020 2019
£000 £000
45,457 -

26
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8 Intérest payable and similar expenses
2020 2019
£000 £000
Stacking loan interest 9,114 12,615
Bank loans and overdrafts 3,000 2,785
Net interest on pension scheme obligations 132 283
Other interest 97 97
Interest paid to parent company 34 -
12,377 15,780
9 Tax on profit
Analysis of chargefcredit) in year
2020 2019
£000 £000
Current tax
Current tax on income for the vear 23,934 19,202
Adjustment in respect of previous years (933) (673)
Total current tax 23,001 18,529
Deferred tax
Origination/reversal of liming differences 1,518 1,026
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 969 119
Eftect of change in tax rate 480 (85)
Total deferred tax 2,967 1,060
Tax on profitf(loss) 15,968 19,589
Current tax Deferred tax Total tax Current tax ~ Deferred tax Total tax
2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Recagnised 1n profit and loss account 23,001 2,967 25,968 18,529 1,060 19,589
Recognised in other comprehensive income - {1,121) (L,121) - {136) {136)
Total tax 23,001 1,846 24,847 18,529 924 19,453
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit/(loss) before taxation 100,357 7E799
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 19% {2019 19%) 19,068 13,642
Effects of:
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions - -
Difference in tax rate on gain on sale of discontinued operations - -
Change in tax Tate on deferred tax balances 969 {78)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7,111 7,370
Tax exempt revenues (730) {865)
Recognition of previeusly unrecognised tax losses - -
Current year losses for which no deferred tax asset was recogniscd - -
Under/(over) provided in prior years (450) (480}
Total tax charge/(credit) (sae above) 25,968 19,589

Factors that may affect future current and total tax charges
An increase in the UK corporation tax rate from 17% to 19% (effective from 1 April 2020} was substantively enacted on 17 March 2020. Deferred
tax balances at 31 December 2020 are measured at a rate of 19%. However, in the March 2021 Budget it was announced that the UK corporation tax
rate will increase from 19% to 25% with effect from [ April 2023. As substantive enactment is after the balance sheet date, deferred tax balances at
31 December 2020 continue to be measured at 19%. If the amended tax rate of 25% had been used, the deferred tax liability would have been

£3,038.000 higher.

Due to the mature and stable nature of the company’s business, we do not expect the grass value of the deferred tax assets and liabilities to materially

change during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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10 Prior year adjustment

The Grouy aud all legal entities wathin the Group are party to the same banking arrangement with legal right of set-oft covering all accounts. The bank
arrangement treats all accounts as one facility and they are grouped together by the bank to calculate total amount drawn down on the facility and also
to calculate interest and charges payable. The accounts arc administered centrally by the Group with regular transfers being made to amounts held 1o
realign all businesses to comparable funded positions. The separate bank accounts held in the subsidiary companies are held in order to ease the
reconciliation of monics locally Considering these factors the Group have previously concluded that the total amounts held in the accounts across the
Group would be most appropriately reported net. However, following further clarification of the requirements of FRS102, specitically duc to the fact
that an intent to offset is not considered 1o exist on the basis that deposits are not expected to be used to settle overdratis, the balance sheet and notes
for the prior year have heen restated to present the gross position, with positive bafances included within Cash at bank and in hand and overdrawn
balances within Creditors: amounts falling due within one year,

This adjustment has the etfect of increasing both cash at bank and in hand and bank overdraft included in creditors by £190,947,000. The effects of
the prior period adjustment are summarised below, there is ho change to net currenl assets or the balance sheet total.

As
previously
Balance sheet - Extract As restated reported
£000 £000
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash at bank and in hand 191,671 724
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due withun ong year (1,597,748)  (1,406,801)
11 Intangible fixed assets
Group Gaodwill Franchise Total
Value Software
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At beginning of year 304,048 3,046 1,137 308,231
Additions - - - -
Disposal (5,556} (2,092 (24) (7.672)
Transter - - - -
At end of year 298,492 954 1,113 300,559
Amorfisation i
At beginning of year 156,246 1,193 632 158,071
Charge for the year 19,275 143 239 19,657
Impairment 1,289 570 190 2,049
Disposal (5,451 (1,572) (24) (7,047
Atend of year 171,359 334 1,037 172,730
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 127,133 620 76 127,829
At 31 December 2019 147,802 1,853 505 150,160

Goodwill and franchise value impairments and disposals in the year relate to the dealerships disposed and closed {see note 2).
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12 Tangible fixed assets
Group Freehold Short Fixtures Motor Total
land and leasehold and vehicles
buildings land and equipment
buildings
£000 £000 £000 £006 £000
Cost
At beginning of year 292 609 123,236 166,328 61,391 643,564
Additions 15,062 4,642 18,272 21.47] 59,447
Disposals (273) (3,976} (13,251) (21,347 (38,847)
Reclassification/transter 1,817 {2,104y 187 - -
Atend of year 309,315 121,798 171,536 61,515 664,164
Depreciation
At beginning of year 24,645 28,057 96,577 19 144 168 425
Chaige [ur yewr 6,300 3,086 16,256 11,727 39,360
Disposals (55) (2,130) (11,4733 (12,470)  {26,128)
Reclassification/transfer i6 (16) - - -
At end of year 30,906 30,997 101,360 18,403 181,666
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 278,409 90,801 70,176 43,112 482,498
At 3] December 2019 267,964 95,179 69,751 42,245 475,139

Included within freehold land and buildings is £94,820,000 {2019: £85,710,000) of land which is not depreciated.

[ncluded in cost are asscts under the course of construction which are not depreciated as follows: £000
Freehold land and buildings 12,666
Short leasehold Jand and buildings 39,370
Fixtures and equipment 8,221

Included in tangible fixed assets arc assets with a net book value of £37,748,000 (2019, £36,174,000) which are held as security by way of a fixed
charge in favour of a bank loan, sce note 16.

Company Frechold Short Fixtures Motor Total
land and leaschold and vehicles
buildings land and equipment
buildings

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At beginning of year 13,637 3,488 11,18G 2248 30,553
Additions 66 23 3,162 905 4,156
Disposals - - (100 (452) {552)
Reclassification/transfer (2,778) {193) 193 - (2,778)
At end of year 10,925 3,318 14,435 2,701 31,319
Depreciation
At beginning of vear 150 357 5,839 894 7,280
Charge for year 57 251 2,138 619 3,065
Disposals - - (87) (355) (442)
Reclassification/transfer - - - - -
Atend of year 247 608 7,890 1,158 9,903
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 10,678 2,710 6,545 1,543 21,476
At 31 December 2019 13,447 3,131 5,341 1,354 23273

Included within frechold land and buildings is £7,528 000 (2019: £10,307,000) of land which is not depreciated.

Included in cost are assets under the course of construction which are not depreciated as follows: £000
Freehold land and buildings 1,863
Fixtures and equipment -
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13 Fixed asset investments
Compuny Shares in group
undertakings
£000
Cost
At beginnimng of year 375222
Acquisition -
Disposal -
At end of year 375,222
Provision
At beginning of year 86,120
Impairment -
Disposal -
Atend of year 86,120
Net book value b
At 31 December 2020 289,102
At 31 December 2019 289,102

The trade and asscts ot’ a subsidiary The Car People Limited, have been transferred at book value to another subsidiary, Car Shops Limited, on 31
December 2020 The Company has transferred the cost of investment in The Car People Limited of £79,987,000 to the Car Shops Limited

investment,
The company has the following subsidiary undertakings;

Country of Registered Class ot Proportion
Company Name incorporation number Activity shares held held %
Agnew Autoexchange Limited Northern Ireland ~ NI012734 SEAT Dealership Ordinary 100
Agnew Commercials Limited Northern Ireland  NIO13173 Mercedes-Benz dealerships Ordinary 100
Agnew Leasing Limited Northern Ireland NIO11916 Corporate vehicle sales Ordinary 109
Agnew Retail Limited (2) Northem Ircland ~ NI610593 [ntermediate Holding Company Ordinary 100
Ascot Garage Company Limited £7) England 582473 Dormant Ordinary 1060
Automotive Strategy Limited ¢J) England 3554765 Dormant Ordinary 100
Bavarian Garages (N 1) Limited (1) Northern [refand ~ NI013932 Dormant Ordinary 100
Car Shops Limited (2) England 5331512 Used car supermarket operator Ordinary 100
Central Garage (Surrey) Limited (/) England 359696 Dormant Ordinary 100
Cruickshank Motors Limited England 1837492 Metcedes-Benz dealerships Ordinary 100
Edmand & Milbumn Limited ¢7) England 3008457 Dormant Ordinary 100
FW Mays & Co Limited (1) England 926676 Dormant Ordinary 100
Goodman Derby Limited ¢/} England 6514539 Dormant Ordinary 100
Goodman Retail Limited England 3097514 Volkswagen and Audi dealerships  Ordinary 100
Goodman TPS Limited ¢2) England 6821483 VW Parts business Ordinary 100
Graypaul Molors Limited England 3079284 Ferrari and Maserati dealerships Ordinary 100
Guy Salmon Highgate Limited (1) England 3547864 Darmant Ordinary 100
Guy Salmon Limited England 3574418 Jaguar and Land Rover dealerstups  Ordinary 100
[APCB Limited Norther Ireland ~ NI020068 Porsche dealership Ordinary 100
Isaac Agnew (Holdings) Limited ¢2) Notthern Ireland  NI000668 Intermediate Holding Company Ordinary 100
Isaac Agnew (Mallusk) Limited (/) Northemn Ireland N1G14730 Donnant Ordinary 100
Isaac Agnew Limited Northem Ircland ~ NIG10842 Audi, VW, BMW & Mini dealership: Ordinary 100
Leslie H. Trainer and Son Limited ¢2) England 1140490 BMW dealership Ordwary 100
Mar Parts Limited (1) England 827692 Dormant Ordinary 100
Maranello Concessionaires Ltd (2) England 655104 Ferrari Parts business Ordinary 100
Marancllo Holdings Limited (2) England 2001186 [Dormant Ordinary 100
Maranello Sales Limited (/) England 144337k Dormant Ordinary 100
Michael Powles Limited (1) England 2726631 Doumant Ordinary 100
Minden Limited 1) England 1139205 Dormant Ordinary 100
Oxford Mazda Limited ({} England 1514496 Dormant Ordinary 100
Prophets (Gerrards Cross) Limited (1) England 2170064 Dormant Ordinary 100
Quad Finance Limited (/) England 1088907 Dormant Ordinary 100
R Stratton & Co Limited England 2696872 Rolls Royce and Bentley dealerships Ordinary 100
Ryburn Cars Limited (/) England 1504979 Dommant Ordinary 100
Rycar Limited (1) England 2590871 Dormant Ordinary 100
Rycom Vehicles Limited (1) England 2738408 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryeroft Vehicles Limited (1) England 2434381 Dormant Ordinary 100
Rydalke Cardiff Limited (/) England 3469376 Dormant Ordinary 100
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13 Fixed asset investments (continued)
Country of Registered Class of Proportion

Company Name incorporation  mumber Activity shares held held %

Rydnal Limited 1) England 4814756 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryland Cars Limited () England 317861 Dormant Ovdinary 100
Ryland Group Limited /) England 4813103 Dormant Ordinary 1040
Ryland Group Services Limited (/) Cngland 1356615 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryland Investments Limited (7) Cngland 401856 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryland Leasing Limited 4/ England 2385853 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryland Properties Limited ¢J) England 2286173 Dormant Ordinary 100
Ryland Vehicles Limited (/) England 662475 Dormant Ordinary 100
Sunningdale Carriage Co Limited (1) England 1088735 Dormant Ordinary 100
Sytner Automotive Limited (7} England 1979805 Dormant Ordinary 100
Sytner Cars Limited England 2832086 Porsche dealerships Ordinary 100
Sylner Direct Limited /) England 3574420 Dorman| Ordinary 100
Sytner Fimance Limited (/) England 2344678 Dormam Ordinary 100
Sytner Holdings Limited (/) England 2681878 Dormant Ordinary 100
Sytner Limited England 813696 BMW and Rolls Royce dealerships  Ordinary 100
Sytner London Limited ¢1) England 2383590 Darmant Ordinary £00
Sytner Propetties (Grove Park) Limited (/) England 5171942 Dormant Oxdinary 106
Sytuner Properties Limited ¢J) Fngland 3611990 Dormant Ordinary 100
Sytner Retail Limited (1) England 833930 Dormant Ordinary ]
Sytner Sheffield Limited (/) England 264809 Dovmant Ordinary 100
Sytner Vehicles Limited (/) Fneland 7089922 Dormant Ordinary 100
The Car People Limited 12) England 3743283 Used car supermarket operator Ordinary 100
Thomson & Taylor (Brooklands) Limited (7) England 1121388 Dormant Ordinary 100
Trade Parts Specialist (NT) Limited (2} Northern frefand  NIG54523 Volkswagen parts business Ordinary 106
Trainer (Holdings) Limited (2) Lngland 8745259 Intermediate Holding Company Ordinary 100
William Jacks Limited 1 England 215293 Dormant Ordinary 100
William Jacks Properties Limited (/) England 1120920 Dormant Ordinary 100
William Jacks Services Limited (7} England 1576842 Dormant Ordinary 100
Yarnold of Stratford Limited (1) England 2014007 Dormant Ordinary 100
Zycor 17 Limited (/) England 3297708 Dormant Ordinary 104
Zycor 18 Limited (J) England 3824364 Dormart Ordinary 100

The registered address for all companies incorporated in England is 2 Penman Way, Grove Park, Enderby, Leicester, LEI9 1ST
The registered address for all companies incorporated in Northern Ireland is 18 Boucher Way, Beltfast, BT12 6RE

(1) For the vear ending 31 December 2020 the company has taken exemption from audit under section 480 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to
dormant companies

{2) For the year ending 31 December 2020 the Company has taken exemption from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to
subsidiary companies. As required under section 479C of the Companies Act 2006, Sytner Group Limited guarantees all outstanding liabilities to
which the subsidiary companies are subject.

14 Stocks Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000
Vehicles for resale 579,858 684,894 - -
Consignhment stock 302,614 354,589 - -
Parts 22,750 25,246 493 385
905,222 1,064,729 493 385

Vehicles for resale are pledged as security for stocking loans managed under a group facility.
The replacement cost of stocks is net materially different from the value stated above,
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15 Delitors

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by immediate parent company
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Other debtors

Deferred tax asset {note 19}

Prepayments and accrued income
Corporation tax receivable

Sytner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000
102,527 149,107 4,663 3,040
371 Ky} 371 37
- - 177,660 160,820
18,152 18,546 13,308 33,363
- - 2,379 2,158
15,466 22,195 4,108 3,591
- - 13,005 3,619
136,516 189,885 215,494 206,668

Amounts owed by immediate parent company and subsidhary undertakings are unsecured, interest free and de not have a fixed repayment date.

16 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Bank laans and overdrafis (note 18)

Stacking loans

Consignment stock liabilitics

Amounts owed (o ultimate parent undertaking
Trade creditors

Corporation tax payable

Other taxes and social security

Other creditors

Finance leases and other loans {note 18)
Accruals and deferred income

Group Company

2020 2019 202¢ 2019
As restated

£000 £000 £000 £000
218,441 319,471 63,888 127,000
472,529 540,912 275,937 274,454
321,216 385,629 - -
- 10,000 - 10,000
119,384 124,809 31.302 15,442
924 7.031 . -
61,129 16,085 14,821 1,602
74,207 84,638 12,441 23,675
177 89 - -
96,948 109,084 17,133 11,691
1,364,955 1,597,748 415,544 465,864

The stacking loans are secured on the vehicles to which they relate and bear interest related to Finance House base rates
Amaunts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest accrues at 4% and is payable guarterly.

17 Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

QOther creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Bank lovans {note 18)

Finance leases and other loans (noie 18)

Group Company
2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000
34,010 32,311 4,543 5,683
26,411 27,174 - -
- 89 - -

60,421 59,574 4,543 5,683
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18 Total borrowings

Due within ane year or on demand:
Bank loans
Revolving credit facility
Bank overdraft
Finance leases and other loans

Due between one and two years.
Bank loany
Finance leases and other loans

Due between two and five years:
Bank loang
Finance leases and other loans

Due after five years:
Bank loang
Finance lcases and other loans

Syiner Group Limited
Annual report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Company

2020 2019 2020 2019
As resiated

£000 £000 £000 £000
4,525 3,524 2,000 2,000
- 125,000 - 125,000
213,916 190,947 61,888 -
177 89 - -
218,618 319,560 63,888 127,000
1,526 1,524 - .
- 89 - -
1,526 1.613 - -
4,581 4,579 - -
4,581 4,579 - -
20,304 21,071 - -
20,304 21,071 . B
245,029 346,823 63,888 127,000

The overdraft is secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Group. The bank overdraft bears interest at 1.75% over UK base rate.

The bank loans includes 2 mortgages which are secured on the property 1o which they relate and an unsecured cash flow Joan. The first mortgage,
which was drawn down in December 2017, bears a Nixed interest rate of 4. 1% for the first ten years and variable thereafter, capital repayments of
£79,500 are made each calendar month  The second mortgage, which was drawn down in December 2019, bears a fixed interest rate of 3 85% for
the first ten years and variable thereafier, capital repayments of £48,620 are made each calendar month. The cash flow loan does not bear interest and

is repayable gn demand

The revolving credit facility bears interest at a variable rate of between 1.1% and 2.1% aver LIBOR.
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19 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Sytner Group Limited
Annua! report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Group Company
2020 2020
Balance at 1 January 2024 7,775 (2,198
Charge to profit and loss account and other comprehensive income 1,846 (181)
during the vear
Balance at 31 December 2020 9,621 (2,379)
Deferred tax assets and habylites are attributable to the following'
Group Assets Liabilities Net
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Accelerated capital allowanees (189) (327 7,373 3,862 7,184 5535
Employee benefits (523) (497) - - {523) (497)
Unused tax losses - - - - - -
Other timing difterences {2,340 (1,915) 5,300 4,652 1,960 2,137
Tax (assets) / habilities (3,052) (2,739) 12,673 10,514 9,621 7,775
Company Assets Liabilities Net
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Acceleraled capital allowances (45) {197) - - {45) {197)
Employee benefits (380) 473) - - (380) 473y
Other iming difterences (1,954) (1,528) - - (1,954) {1,528)
Tax (assets) / liabilities (2,379 {2,198) - - (2,379) (2,198)

Included in other timing differences is a provision for deferred tax liability on rollover gains of £4,049,000 (2019: £3,624,000).

There are no asscts on which deferred tax has not been recognised. The company does not anticipate any material reversal of the deferred tax liability
above. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where the Company has a legally enforceable right to do so and where the assct and liahilities

relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity or another entity in the Company.
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Notes to the financial Statements

20 Employee benefits - Pensions

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Company. Contributions to
the scheme are charged to the profit and loss account in the year they are incurred.

The total expense charged to profit o loss in the year ended 31 December 2020 was £10,885,000 (2019; £11,579,000). Quistanding contributions at
the end of the fmancial year were £1,263,000 (2019, £996,000).

In addition to the defined contribution scheme detailed above Sytner Group Limited operates twe defined benefit pansion arrangements called the
William Jacks Plc Retirement Benefits Scheme ("William Jacks") and the Ryland Group Services Penston Plan ("Ryland"). The schemes provide
benefits based on final salary and length of service on retirement, leaving service or death.

The William Jacks and Ryland schemes are subject to the Statutory Funding Objective under the Pensions Act 2004, A valuation of the schemes is
carried oul at lcast once every three vears to determine whether the Statutory Funding Objective 1s met, As parl of the process the Company must
agree with the trustees of the schemes the contributions to be paid to address any shaortfall against the Statutory Funding Objective.

Based on the contribution schedule currentiy in force for the Scheme, the Company expects to contribute £1,073,000 to William Jacks and
£1,425,000 to Ryland during the 12 manths following the Review Date,

The most recent comprehensive actuarial valuation of the schemes was carried out as at 31 March 2017 and the next valuation as at 31 March 2020
has been Tinalised subsequent 10 31 December 2020 The results of the valuation dated 31 March 2017 were updated by a qualified actuary to 31
Deeember 2020 allowing for cash flows in and out of the schemes and changes to assumptions over the period.

William Jacks Ryland Total
£000 £000 £000
Net pension (liability)/assct
Defined benefit obligation (25,520} (35,163) (60,683)
Plan assets 20,731 29,679 50,410
Net pension liability (4,789) (5,484) (10,273)
Movemeats in present value of defined benefit obligation
At 1 January 2020 22,478 31,869 54,347
Past service cost - - -
Interest expense 431 609 1,040
Remeasurement: actuarial gains/losses) - - -
Benefits paid (734) {1,316) (2,050
Experience {gain)/loss on habilities 351 195 546
Changes to demographic assumptions 489 686 1,175
Changes to financial assumptions 2,530% 3120 5,625
At 31 December 2020 25,520 35,163 60,683
Movements in fair value of plan assets
At 1 January 2020 18,392 26,715 45,107
Interest income a72 536 908
Remeasurement: return on plan assets less interest income 551 894 1,445
Contributions by employer 2,150 2,850 5,000
Benefits paid (734) (1,316 (2,050
Al 3] December 2020 20,731 29,679 50,410
Expense recognised in the profit and loss account
William Jacks Ryland Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Current service cost - - - - - -
Net interest on net defined benefit liability 59 119 73 164 132 283
Total expense recognised in profit or loss 59 119 73 164 132 283
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0 Empioyee benefits - Pensions (continued)
The fair value of the plan assets and the return on thase asscts were as follows:
William Jacks Ryland Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value
Growth 15,295 13,810 21,805 19,563 37,100 33,373
Corporate bonds 2,639 2,312 3,843 3,450 6,482 5,762
Index linked bonds and insured annuities 2,613 2,159 3,950 3,571 6,569 5,730
Cash and net curreat labilities 184 11l 75 131 259 242
20,731 18,392 29,679 26,715 50,410 45,107
Actual return on plan assets 913 1,711 1,430 2,541 2,353 4,252
% % % %a
Long terim expected rate of return
Growth 4,55 52 4.55 52
Corporale bonds 1.20 2.0 1.20 2.0
Index linked bonds and insured annuitics 1.20 2.0 1.20 2.0
Cash and net current habilities 0.55 1.2 0.55 1.2

The assets do not include any investment in shares of the company or its subsidiarics.
The fair value of the Scheme's assets does not include any property investment that is occupied by the company or any of its suhsidiaries.

Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the year-end were as follows:

William Jacks Ryland

2020 2019 2020 2019

% % Yo Y%

Discount rate 1.2¢ 1.95 1.20 1.95

Inflation assumption (RP1) 3.20 325 3.20 325

Inflation assumption (CPT) 270 2.25 270 2.25
Pension increases

RPT max 5% pa 3.20 32 3.20 32

CPI max 3% pa 230 2 230 2

S3INA mortalty  S2NXA monialty  53NA merality S2NXA

tables and CMI tables and CMI  tables and CMI  mortality tables

2019 projections 2018 projections 2019 projections  and CMI 2018

Post retirement mortality assumptions with 2 longterm  withalongterm  with alang term projections with

rate of rate of 1ate of  along term 1ate

waprovement of  improvementof  improvement of  of improvement

1.25% 125% 1.25% ol 125%

The lagest full actuarial valuation carried out for both schemes was as at 31 March 2017 and these were updated for FRS102 purposes to 31 December
2020 by a qualified independent actuary.

21 Employee benefits - Share Schemes

Certain employees in managerial roles in the Group are eligible 1o receive share based payments pursuant to the terms of the Penske Automotive
Group, Inc.'s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.

The plan {referred to as restricted stock) is a long term incentive plan for senior managers. The cost is recognised as an employee expense on a
straight line basis in the prefit and loss account with a corresponding movement in aceruals based on the fair value of options granted . The fair value
is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the employee became entitled to the options (the vesting period). The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect an estimate of the number of shares that arc expected to vest. The creditor is adjusted to reflect
movement in share price throughout the vesting period with a corresponding movement in equity. At 31 December 2020 the outstanding creditor was
£3.497 000 (2019: £3,093,000).

During the year, Penske Automotive Group, Inc. granted 75,935 shares with a market value on grant date of £3,025,000 (2019; 75,776 shares with a
market value on grant date of £3,300,000) of restricted stock. The non-vested shares entitle the participants to vote and receive dividends. Howaver,
the shares are subject to forfeiture and are non-transferable, with restrictions over a four year period from the grant date. The shares vest over a four
year period commencing on | June in the year following the grant date as follows; year 1 - 15%, year 2 - 15%, year 3 - 20%, year 4 - 50%.

The total charge to the profit and loss account in respect of restricted stock in the year was £2,827 000 (2019. £2,504,000). This charge was included
n administrative expenses. In addition a credit{charge) was made through equity of £196,00G (2019: £419,000) in relation to movements in
restrected stock price,
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22 Called up share capital
2020 2019
£000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
27,240,197 ordinary shares of 10p each 2,724 2,724

The shares have attached to them full veting rights, dividend and capital distribution {including on winding up) rights; they do not confer any nights of’

redemption.
23 Dividends 2020 2019
£000 £000
Ordinary shares of 10p each - Interim dividends 50,000 48 750
24 Financial commitments
Operating leases
Group
Non-cancellable aperating lease rentals are payable as follows:
20210 20159
£000 £0600
Expiry date:
Within one year 42,034 46,293
Between two and five years 147,588 159,867
After five years 369,183 422,994

558,805 629,154

Operating leases
Company
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2020 2019
£000 £000
Expiry date’
Within one year 3,526 3,957
Betwesn twao and {ive years 11,497 12,415
After five years 18,251 20,859
33,274 37,231
Capital commitments
Group

The group had capital commitments of £Nil As at 31 December 2020 (2019: £Nil).

Company
The company had capita! commitments of £Nil As at 31 December 2020 (2019: £Nil).
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25 Accounting estimates and judgements

T the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note |, the directors are required to make judgements {other than those
involving estimations) that may have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amaunts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historica)
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised 1f the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Cratical judgements in applving the Group's accounting policies

Goodwill and other intangibles (see note 1)

The Grovp reviews gondwill and other intangibles for indicators of impairment as discussed in the respective accounting policy in note 2. The
identitication and calculation of impairment requires management lo calculate the net realisable value of the goodwill or ntangible, typically using the
discounted cash low method, based on a number of assumptions. Areas of signiticant judgement include estimation of future cash flows and trading
performance, selection of an appropriate disconnt factor, sensitivity to apply based on kuuwn o anticipated market conditions. Whilst the
assumplions used are considered appropriate future events could result in those assumptions nesding o be revised and a change in outcome.
Goodwill in relation to the used car supermarket division has been considered separately from franchised businesses for the current accounting period
due to the differing impact of COVID on those businesses. The areas of judgement include the assumption that the COVID impact on performance
was temporary, the assumption being supported by trading results since lockdowns ended in 2021

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Deferred tax (see note 19}

Determining income tax provisions involves an assessment of the tax treatment of certain transactions. Deferred tax is recognised on tax losses not
vet used and on teniporary differences where it is probable that there will be taxabie revenue against which these can be offset. Management has
made estimations as to the probability of future 1axable revenues heing generated against which tax losses will be available for offset.

Stacks (see note I4)

The assessment of the net realisable value of stocks utilises market knowledge and history of recent activity, whilst this is deemed to be appropriate it
15 possible that ultimate sales return will vary from those assumed.

Leased Vehicles

The group has entered into lease agrecments with third parties to repurchase vehicles for a specified value at a predetermined date. The Group
monitars the repurchase value against the fair value using market knowledge and history of recent activity and will provide for any [osses indicated as
a result of that review. Whilst this is deemed appropriate treatment it is possible that the ultimate sales return will vary from those assumed.

At the end of the year the Group has a buy back hability of £21,299 000 for vehicles being leased for a period greater than 12 months, these vehicles
are held as fixed assets with a net book value of £38,579,000, The Group also has a buy back liability of £30,670,000 for vehicles due for repurchase
within one vear, these vehicles are held as stock with a value of £31,167,000.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The conclusion reached on going concern uses judgements on anticipated
future trading performance and market expectations along with the continued availability of borrowings and whilst the assumptions made are deemed
to be appropriate they are subject to external pressures over which the group has no control.

26 Related party transactions

Related parties with which the group has transacted

During the year £3,000 was invoiced, far the use of vehicles, to Laurence Vaughan or companies in which he is a sharehalder and director. Ai 31
December 2020, £Nil remained outstanding. Laurence Vaughan is a director of Sytner Group Limited.

During the year £952,000 was invoiced to the Group by Mallock Limited trading as Ecomotive Logistics, for the provision of vehicle transportation
services. At 31 December 2020, £99,000 remained outstanding. Thomas Mallett a director and shareholder of Mallock Limited is the son of Jeremy
Mallett, a director of Sytner Group Limited,

During the year £67,000 was invoiced to Penske Automotive Group Europe GmbH in respect of expenses and costs incurred by the Group At 31
December 2020, £Nil outstanding. The employment costs related to the Chairman of Penske Automotive Group Europe GmbH are expensed by
Sytner Group Limited.

During the year the Group held an intercompany loan with its immediate parent company PAG International Limited. Total amounts drawn down and
repaid by the parent company amounted to £119,324,000 and £1 18,953,000 respectively. At 31 December 2020, £371,000 was due from PAG
International Limited, amounts owed are unsecured, interest free and do not have a fixed repayment date Dividends paid to PAG International
Limited during the year amounted to £50,000,000.

Penske Automotive Group Furape GmbH and Sytner Group Limited are both wholly owned subsidiaries of PAG International Limited.

On 31 December 2019, the Company received a loan from its ultimate parent company Penske Automeotive Group, Inc. of £10,000,000, the loan was
unsecured and acerued interest at 4% and was repayable on demand. The loan was repaid during the year and interest accrued thereon amounting to
£34 000 was paid.

Framsactions with key managemert personnel
Total compensation of key management persannel (including the directors) in the year amounted to £13,091,000 (2019: £9,172,000).
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17 Financizl instruments

Catrying amouni of financial msiruments
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities include:

2020 2019
As restated
£000 £000
Assels measured at amortised cost 346,773 381,556
Liabilitics measured at amortised cost (1,425,376) (1,657.322)
28 Analysis of changes in net debt
Atdl
At 1 January Other non-  December
2020 Cash flows cash changes 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cash and cash equivalents comprising
Cash at bank and in hand 191,67t 18,586 - 210,257
Bank overdraft (note 18) (190,947) (22,969) - (213916)
724 {4,383) - (3,659)
Borrowings
Debt due within ong year (note 1 8) (128,613) 123911 - {4,7023
Debt due after one year (note 18) {27,263) 852 - (26,4113
(155,870) 124,763 - (31,113
(155,152) 120,380 . (34,772)
29 Sale of business

During the year the Group disposed of the trade and assets of four Volkswagen and onc SEAT dealership, see note 2 for details.

30 Commitments

Company
The Company and its subsidiaries are party to cross guarantees in favour of certan lenders to the Group.

As at 31 December 2020 the gross borrowings outstanding under the Group’s hank facilities in aggregate were £3,680,000 (2019: £125,000,000).

31 Ultimate Controlling Party

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking and under the control of the ultimate parent undertaking Penske Automotive Group, Inc., incorporated in
Michigan, USA, registered office address 2555 Telegraph Road, Bloomfield Hills, Detroit, M1 48302, USA

Penske Automative Group, Tac. i also the largest (and smallest) group i which the results of the Conpany are consolidated. The consalidated
financia! statements are available from 2535 Telegraph Road, Bloomficld Hills, Detroit, MI 48302, USA.

The Company's immediate parent company is PAG International Limited, incorporated in England and Wales, registered office address 2 Penman
Way, Grove Park, Enderby, Leicester, LE19 IS8T,

32 Post balance sheet events
A third government lockdown was imposed in January 2021, whereby all showrooms were ¢losed again, sales were permitted via "click and collect”,

During June 2021 the Group chose to repay to HMRC alf Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme furfough claims made during 2021, totalling £4.1m.

In March 2021, the Group were awarded the opportunity to represent Bugatti in Manchester. We are very proud to now represent Bugalti in one of
only two Bugatui dealerships in the UK.

In May 202t, the Group opened CarShop Leicester Express, it's 12th used car supermarket.
In June 2021, the Group acquired the trade and assets of Autoworld Willenhall, a used car supermarket operated by Renault Retail Group Limited.
The store was immediately closed on acquisition for a period of site refurbishment, re-branding, training and recruitment, and re-opened as CarShop

Wolverbamptan in September 202¢, thus becoming the Group's 13th CarShop used car location.

All post balance sheet events discussed above are non- adjusting events.
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